FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/18/2019 12:30 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/18/2019 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

97867-I

NO. 77600-2-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BAYLEY CONSTRUCTION GENERAL PARTNERSHIP,

Appellant/Petitioner

V.

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Aaron K. Owada, WSBA #13869 Sean Walsh, WSBA #39735 Richard Skeen, WSBA #48426 Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

OWADA LAW, PC 975 Carpenter Road NE, Suite 204 Lacey, WA 98516 Tel: (360) 483-0700 Fax: (360) 489-1877

A. INTRODUCTION AND IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is Bayley Construction General Partnership ("Bayley"). This case raises important issues regarding the Respondent, the Department of Labor and Industries ("Department") citing employers, who otherwise satisfied the Department's past interpretation of a cited regulation, by changing a regulation's requirements to include uncertain, outside requirements that conflict with the overarching regulatory scheme and impose strict liability on an employer without any notice or opportunity to be heard.

Here, the Department cited Bayley for a violation of WAC 296-155-24609(4)(a)(ii), which states that floor openings must be guarded by "one of the following *fall restraint¹ systems*." The cited regulation *does not address fall arrest² specifications*. Bayley provided a floor covering that met the Department's known and written requirements of the cited regulation by using a sheet of 5/8-inch thick plywood to cover a floor opening that would easily exceed the cited fall restraint regulation.

In this case, however, the Department interpreted the cited regulation, for the first time, to contain the same weight or load requirements as those found in the fall arrest regulations, not the cited fall restraint regulation. Significantly, the weight or load requirements for fall restraint methods are different than the requirements for fall arrest systems.

¹ WAC 296-155-24603 defines a fall restraint system as one "in which all necessary components function together to restrain/prevent an employee from falling to a lower level" and include guardrail systems and warning line systems.

² WAC 296-155-24603 defines a fall arrest system as one that "will arrest a fall from elevation" and "include personal fall arrest systems that are worn by the user, catch platforms, and safety nets."

Therefore, the Department's interpretation of the cited regulation, as advanced in this case, changed the regulation from a standard that promotes safety by providing clearly articulated goals that employers can adopt, to a regulation that is unreachable because an employer cannot determine what exactly is required. Accordingly, the Department and the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("Board") transformed this regulation into a strict liability regulation where a violation occurs not because the written standard has been violated, but because an accident occurred regardless of the circumstances.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Bayley seeks review of *Bayley Const. v. Dep't of labor and Indus.*, No. 77600-2-I, filed on October 21, 2019 [Published]. A copy of the opinion is attached to this Petition for Review at Appendix A, pages A1 through A27.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where the Department for the first time changed its historic interpretation and requirements of the floor opening cover regulation to an admittedly unknown, unworkable engineering formula standard, without any public notice or notice to any construction industry employer, does the new interpretation impose strict liability on Bayley and violate Bayley's and the construction industry's right to Fair Notice and Due Process?
- 2. Where the Department bears the burden of proving all elements required by RCW 49.17.180(6) to issue a "serious" violation, is the Board's

Decision and Order supported by substantial evidence when the Department failed to establish employer knowledge?

3. Where the Board held that the term "maximum potential load" is more encompassing than the term "maximum intended load" and includes virtually any load, did the Board err by imposing an unreasonable interpretation to a performance standard, and further err in striking the testimony of Chris Babbitt, Kurt Stranne, Chris Troxell, Dan Pitts and the Department's 30(b) (6) witness, who would have testified that the term "maximum potential load" is interpreted in a reasonable predictable manner?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Construction of the Health Sciences Building

Bayley was the general contractor on the project to construct a new three-story health and sciences building at Bellevue College. The heating, ventilation, and air conditioning ("HVAC") system for the building was designed for installation on the roof of the building.

Bayley hired Evergreen Erectors, a steel subcontractor, to build a "wind wall' that would eventually surround the HVAC unit. The HVAC unit was designed to sit on top of a block of concrete within the wind wall, which was to be made by pouring concrete into forms for a 32-inch-tall "stem wall."

The stem wall had two floor openings that were kept open, so the HVAC units could be installed. The floor openings were protected by 5/8-inch plywood covers that had the word "HOLE" written on top of them until

the HVAC units could be installed. All construction contractors and their employees at this worksite were specifically instructed at a safety meeting, on July 21, 2014, not to enter the stem wall area.

2. The new floor hole cover placed over the HVAC floor opening.

To allow workers to build the stem wall, a new floor opening cover was necessary because the cover originally installed interfered with the location of where the stem wall was to be built. Christopher Babbitt, a Bayley general foreman, testified that the method of selecting the proper piece of plywood depended upon the nature of the work to be performed and the size of the opening.

After measuring the opening, Mr. Babbitt determined who would be working in the area and what the maximum intended load would be. He testified this could vary depending on the size and location of the opening. Mr. Babbitt testified that he would determine the potential number of workers who would be working on the floor opening cover and include a 4 times safety margin of the weight of the heaviest worker "as a working surface."

That is, Mr. Babbitt was trained to select a material that would withstand four times the intended load of the weight of the heaviest worker. This was in accord with his training that he received from Bayley, his OSHA 30-hour training course, and other companies he worked for as a journey level carpenter.

Mr. Babbitt determined that a sheet of 5/8-inch-thick MDO plywood would be suitable for the floor opening in question. Mr. Babbitt testified that he selected MDO plywood because it is extremely strong, as it is typically used for decks and can withstand thousands of pounds of concrete. He testified that MDO plywood is very rigid and is typically used for concrete forms. A yard of concrete weighs between 2,500 and 3,000 pounds.

After the floor opening cover was installed and secured against accidental displacement, both Mr. Babbitt and Mr. Ellis, the heaviest worker who weighed over 250 pounds, tested the cover by taking turns standing on it. Mr. Babbitt testified that there was no deflection, or any other issues with the floor opening cover. Mr. Babbitt also verified the floor opening cover would not displace by giving it the recognized kick test. Mr. Babbitt further used red spray paint to paint the word "HOLE" in letters that were 8 inches by 16 inches tall.

3. No one was allowed inside of the stem wall and there was no reason for anyone to go inside the stem wall on July 21, 2014.

Mr. Babbitt testified that there was no need for the Evergreen Erector employees to work inside of the stem wall forms on July 21, 2014, and they did not work inside that access-restricted guardrail equivalent enclosure on July 21, 2014. Likewise, Allen Wahl, an Evergreen Erectors journey level steelworker, testified that none of the Evergreen Erectors' employees had to go inside of the stem wall for any work they did on the top floor on July 21, 2014.

4. Theodore Merry's idiosyncratic jump onto the floor cover causing him to fall could not have been reasonably anticipated.

On July 21, 2014, Evergreen Erectors' structural steelworkers were welding angle iron onto the wind wall. Mr. Wahl was working on the outside of the wind wall, and Theodore Merry, an Evergreen Erectors journey level steelworker, was working on the inside of the wind wall.

Mr. Merry weighed 257 pounds and was wearing a 20-pound tool belt. While Mr. Merry was standing on a ladder approximately five feet above the surface of the roof, Mr. Wahl told Mr. Merry that he needed another clamp. Mr. Wahl watched Mr. Merry climb down the ladder, step onto the stem wall, and intentionally jump onto the plywood floor hole cover. Mr. Merry did not slip or accidently fall from the stem wall. Unfortunately, when Mr. Merry jumped from the stem wall onto the plywood floor hold cover, the plywood broke under his weight and he fell to his death.

Mr. Wahl testified he had no reason to anticipate that Mr. Merry would jump onto the floor opening cover, or that the floor opening cover was inadequate in any way. As a journey level steelworker, Mr. Wahl learned about ladder safety. He learned to always keep 3 points of contact and to come down the whole ladder and not to jump off the ladder. He was also taught not to step or jump onto floor opening covers.

In the 12 years of being in construction, Mr. Wahl testified that it was not a common practice for construction workers to jump from the height of the stem wall onto a floor opening cover. In fact, Mr. Wahl

testified he would never jump onto a floor opening cover, and he has no recollection of any steelworker ever jumping onto a floor opening cover. In addition, Mr. Babbitt testified that he had never known anyone to jump off a ladder or stem wall onto a floor opening cover marked with "HOLE".

There was no evidence that any worker at the Bayley Construction site had ever jumped off of a ladder or a stem wall to come down from a higher elevation.

Kurt Stranne, the only Professional Engineer who testified in this matter, concluded that 5/8" MDO plywood would hold 1,246 pounds of support and his opinion was based on a more probable than not degree of engineering certainty. That is, Mr. Stranne testified that using two different methodologies, he calculated the dynamic force created by a 257 pound³ employee plus tools jumping onto the floor hole cover from a height of 32 inches, the stem wall height. In both methodologies, Mr. Stranne's calculations exceeded the 1,246 pounds that Mr. Schaeffer calculated the board was capable of supporting.

Indeed, the Department's Compliance Safety and Health Officer ("CSHO") Chris Troxell testified that 277 pounds times four would be 1,108 pounds. Officer Troxell even agreed that in order to be compliant with the code, at a minimum, the plywood needed to support at least 1,108 pounds. It was undisputed that the 5/8-inch plywood floor cover was strong enough to support 1,108 pounds.

³ Based on the medical examiner's report, Officer Troxell learned that Mr. Merry weighed 257 pounds. He added 20 pounds for his tools and considered his total weight to be 277 pounds.

5. The Department's Citation.

The Department conducted an inspection after Mr. Merry's unfortunate accident, through CSHO Troxell and CSHO Javier Sarmiento. As a result of the inspection, the Department issued a citation against Bayley for a serious violation of WAC 296-155-24609(4)(a)(ii), and alleged that Bayley, "did not ensure that all floor opening had floor covers that were capable of supporting the maximum potential load with a safety factor of four as required by WAC 296-155-24615(3)(a)(ii)."

The Board concluded at page 5, lines 24 - 28 of the Decision & Order that:

"The Department maintains that the phrase is "maximum potential load" is more encompassing than a "maximum intended load." Because the former term could also include an "unintended" load, it is clear the Department is correct." (Emphasis added).

All of the safety experts and professionals that testified agree that the Department has never previously interpreted the floor cover regulation to contain the same weight or load requirements as those in the fall arrest regulations; yet, that is what the Department argued and what the Board adopted. This new adoption, which is contrary to the Department's past interpretations that Bayley relied upon, gave Bayley no notice or opportunity to be heard and held Bayley strictly liable for this accident.

E. ARGUMENT

1. In passing the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act, which the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act is based on, Congress recognized the tension between promoting worker safety and not creating absolute or strict liability.

The Court of Appeals correctly held at page 12 that the purpose of WISHA, as set forth in RCW 49.17.010⁴, is, "to assure, insofar as may reasonably be possible, safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington." To that end, courts must liberally construe WISHA statutes and regulations.

However, it is well recognized that the intent to promote worker safety is not absolute as it does not create strict liability to employers. In H. Rept. No. 91-1291 at 21-22, it is noted that the Committee's intent that an employer exercise care to furnish a safe and healthful place to work and to provide safe tools and equipment. Moreover, the Committee declared that this is not a vague duty but is protection of the worker from *preventable* dangers. (Emphasis added).

A majority of the federal circuits have adopted this legislative intent or a similar one. See, e. g., National Steel & Shipbuilding Co. v. OSHRC, 607 F.2d 311, 313-16 (9th Cir. 1979); Georgia Electric Co. v. Marshall, 595 F.2d 309, 317-19 (5th Cir. 1979); Kent Nowlin Constr. Co. v. OSHRC, 593 F.2d 368, 372 (10th Cir. 1979); Empire-Detroit Steel v. OSHRC, 579 F.2d 378, 384-85 (6th Cir. 1978); Intercounty Constr. Co. v. OSHRC, 522 F.2d 777, 779-81 (4th Cir. 1975), cert. denied, 423 U.S. 1072, 96 S. Ct. 854, 47 L.Ed.2d 82 (1976); F. X. Messina Constr. Corp. v. OSHRC, 505 F.2d 701, 702 (1st Cir. 1974).

⁴ The Washington legislature adopted the exact language set forth in 29 U.S.C. § 651(b)

Moreover, it has long been established that OSHA was created to be preventative in nature and imposes an obligation on employers to suppress hazardous employee conduct which is predictable and therefore feasibly preventable. See Butler Lime and Cement Company, OSHRC Docket No. 855 (1977). For the reasons set forth below, the Department's interpretation of the floor cover rule, to take into account the greatest amount of force that could be placed on that cover including unintended loads is unreasonable because employers cannot take into account unintended loads that are not reasonably predictable or foreseeable.

Furthermore, it has been long-established that OSHA does not impose absolute (or strict) liability on employers for harmful workplace conditions; instead, it focuses liability where harm can, in fact, be prevented. See, e.g., Central of Ga. R.R. Co. v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 576 F.2d 620, 623 (5th Cir.1978) (collecting cases); Brennan v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 502 F.2d 946, 951 (3d Cir.1974); Brennan v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 511 F.2d 1139, 1145 (9th Cir.1975) (noting that there must be "some nexus between the employer and the alleged violation," otherwise employers would be "strictly and absolutely liable for all violations" contrary to what Congress intended).

As held by the *Butler* court, *supra*, the Act does not impose strict liability, e.g., it does not impose liability for failure to prevent employee conduct which is "idiosyncratic," or "implausible in motive."

Thus, while courts have emphasized the importance of proper instruction and adequate supervision in safety-related matters, "they have consistently refused to require measures beyond those which are reasonable and feasible." See Horne Plumbing & Heating Co. v. Occupational Safety & Health Review Comm'n, 528 F.2d 564, 569 (5th Cir.1976) (discussing cases).

Similarly, the Board has also declined to impose strict liability in WISHA cases. *See In Re: Traffic Control Services*, Dkt. No. 06-W0021, 2007 WL 3054890 (Wash. Bd. Ind. Ins. App.) (2007) (vacating a citation due to trained flagger's unforeseeable unsafe act). Moreover, the Board has not automatically found that a safety standard has been violated merely because an accident occurred.

2. The cited regulation is a "performance standard" which must be applied reasonably.

The floor cover regulation at issue, WAC 296-155-24609 is a "performance" standard because it identifies an objective, but does not specify the specific means for accomplishing it. See Central Florida. Equipment Rentals, Inc., 25 BNA OSHC 2147, 2150 (No. 08-1656, 2016). "Because performance standards ... do not identify specific obligations, they are interpreted in light of what is reasonable." Thomas Indus. Coatings, Inc., 21 BNA OSHC 2283, 2287 (No. 97-1073, 2007); see also McGraw Constr. Co., 15 BNA OSHC 2144, 2148 (No. 89-2220, 1993) (applying reasonable person test); Siemens, 20 BNA OSHC at n. 8 (employer's exercise of discretion is judged by reasonable person or "reasonably prudent employer" standard). Citing employers for failing to install floor covers that will withstand forces that are not intended or foreseeable amounts to a strict or absolute interpretation.

The main issue in this case is whether Bayley complied with the WAC 296-155-24609 by installing a floor cover that met the strength and load capacities under the fall restraint standards codified in WAC 296-155-24615(3); not the fall arrest standards for fall protection. WAC 296-155-24609 states, in relevant part:

Fall protection required at four feet or more.

(1) You must ensure that the appropriate fall protection system is provided, installed, and implemented according to the requirements in this part when employees are exposed to fall hazards of 4 feet or more to the ground or lower level when on a walking/working surface.

(4) Guarding of floor openings.

(a) You must guard floor openings by one of the following *fall* restraint systems.

(i) A standard guardrail system, or the equivalent, as specified in WAC 296-155-24615(2), on all open sides, except where there is entrance to a ramp, stairway, or fixed ladder. The railing must be provided with a standard toe board wherever, beneath the open sides, persons can pass, or there is moving machinery, or there is equipment with which falling materials could create a hazard.

(ii) A cover, as specified in WAC 296-155-24615(3).

(Emphasis added)

(3) Cover specifications.

(a) Floor opening or floor hole covers must be of any material that meets the following strength requirements:

(i) Conduits, trenches, and manhole covers and their supports, when located in roadways, and vehicular aisles must be designed to carry a truck rear axle load of at least two times the maximum intended load;

(ii) All floor opening, and floor hole covers must be capable of supporting the maximum potential load but never less than 200 pounds (with a safety factor of 4).

(A) All covers must be secured when installed so as to prevent accidental displacement by the wind, equipment, or employees.

(B) All covers must be color coded or they must be marked with the word "hole" or "cover" to provide warning of the hazard.

Significantly, the weight or load requirements for fall restraint methods, such as a floor opening cover, are different than the requirements for fall arrest systems. See WAC 296-155-24615 for fall restraint protection, and WAC 296-155-24613 for fall arrest protection. The basic weight requirement for fall restraint protection to be provided by a floor opening cover is to support at a minimum a 200-pound load with a safety factor of 4 added per WAC 296-155-24615(3)(a)(ii).

Here, Bayley provided floor opening covers that met the Department's known and written requirements because it used a sheet of 5/8-inch thick plywood. Bayley checked the coverings in advance for structural and displacement weaknesses, but none were found. Indeed, Mr. Babbitt had the heaviest worker walk on the 5/8-inch thick plywood and noted no flexion or bending of it. Satisfied that the plywood cover would support a load of 250 pounds with a safety factor of 4, as required by the cited regulation, Mr. Babbitt spray painted the required "HOLE" warning on top of the floor opening cover, which was affixed to the hole with two large nails. Mr. Stranne testified that the rated strength of the 5/8-inch plywood of this type was 1,246 pounds.

When Bayley first installed the floor opening cover it only intended workers to be standing or working on the floor level itself. It was never intended for anyone to jump on it from a height of 32 inches or more. At the time of installation, the 5/8-inch thick floor opening cover easily exceeded the fall restraint safety standard pursuant to the Department's interpretations and requirements of the cited regulation. It was both

reasonable and predictable to assume that workers would be walking, standing, running or even falling from the floor level on top of the floor cover. As testified by Mr. Stranne, the 5/8-inch floor cover was fully capable of sustaining the impact of all of those activities with a safety factor of four.

Particularly where an employer may face substantial penalties, he is entitled to fair notice of the proscribed conduct "and a reasonably clear standard of culpability to circumscribe the discretion of the enforcing authority and its agents." *Diamond Roofing Co., Inc. v. OSHRC*, 528 F.2d 645, 649 (5th Cir. 1976). See also *B & B Insulation, Inc. v. OSHRC*, 583 F.2d 1364, 1371-72 (5th Cir. 1978).

Mr. Merry's decision to jump onto the floor opening cover was both idiosyncratic and could not be reasonably predicted. Under the Board's decision, a jump from any height would be included because it would constitute an "unintended load" which must be protected against by the Employer. This was never the interpretation of the Department nor the industry.

Yet, the Department, for the first time, in this case, interpreted the phrase "maximum potential load" in the floor opening cover specifications to include unintended dynamic loads which are addressed in fall arrest regulations, even though the actual language of the cited regulation only requires employers to meet fall restraint standards.

Not only did Bayley meet the fall restraint standards, it also acted reasonably. As Mr. Babbitt noted, the type of plywood sheet he selected

could support a concrete pour weighting thousands of pounds, as the vector of the dynamic force from pouring the concrete is lessened because its magnitude (dynamic force) is decreased because it is spread over the entirety of the plywood sheet. On the other hand, a fall or jump off a ladder or wall directly onto the plywood sheet, as in this case, produces a vector that is perpendicular to the surface of the plywood floor cover, which focuses the dynamic force of the jump onto a smaller area of the plywood, subjecting that part of the cover to a much greater magnitude of stress. However, as pointed out by Bayley, and the entirety of the Department's own past interpretation of this regulation, such an unintended force is not within the "maximum possible force" language of that regulation.

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