FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/17/2020 10:35 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97867-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

BAYLEY CONSTRUCTION,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Anastasia Sandstrom Senior Counsel WSBA No. 24163 Office Id. No. 91018 800 Fifth Ave., Ste. 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 206-464-6993

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

C. This Case Appears to Be the First Time That a Floor Covering in Washington Has Failed

In preparation for his testimony, Conley researched whether there had ever been a prior incident in Washington in which a floor covering failed and a worker fell through the cover. AR Conley 16-17. He could find no records of such an accident, and no one at the Department was aware of a prior failure. AR Conley 16-17. Conley's research concluded that the Department has issued no WISHA citations involving a failure of a floor covering before and that the Department had never issued any previous interpretations of this rule because it had not needed to address this question before. AR Conley 16-17. Steven Heist, Bayley Construction's construction industry expert and former Department employee, agreed. AR Heist 32-33.

D. The Superior Court and Court of Appeals Affirmed the Board's Decision that Bayley Construction Violated the Floor-Covering Rule

The Department investigated the fatality and cited Bayley

Construction for a serious violation of failing to guard a floor opening.

WAC 296-155-24615(3)(a)(ii); WAC 296-155-24609(4)(a). Bayley

Construction appealed the citation to the Board, which affirmed. The

Board considered the meaning of the Department's rule and rejected

Bayley Construction's argument that "maximum potential load" only included the static load and not the dynamic load. AR 8. It also rejected Bayley Construction's argument that "potential load" meant "intended load." AR 7-8.

The Board's findings of fact 8 and 9 state that the plywood could not support the dynamic weight of Merry jumping on the plywood:

- 8. The 5/8th-inch thick piece of plywood used by Bayley as the hole cover could support a load of 1,246 pounds. It could support the static weight of Mr. Merry and his tool belt, even when multiplying it by 4 as the required safety factor.
- 9. The dynamic load or force placed on the plywood-hole cover by Mr. Merry and his tool belt at the moment of impact after the jump on top of it exceeded 1,246 pounds. This resulted in the breaking of the plywood-hole cover and Mr. Merry's fall onto concrete 42 feet below.

The Board also entered findings and conclusions on the meaning of "maximum potential loads." AR 12 (FF 10; CL 2, 3). The Board determined that the plywood Bayley Construction installed did not guard against "maximum potential loads," which include the force of an employee jumping on the floor opening:

The plywood-floor-opening cover was not sufficient to support the maximum potential load, which included the force of an employee jumping or falling from an elevation above the floor opening, with a safety factor of four (FF 10) The phrase "maximum potential loads" in WAC 296-155-24615(3)(a) encompasses all potential loads, not just intended loads (CL 2).

The phrase "maximum potential loads" in WAC 296-155-24615(3)(a) includes dynamic loads or force as well as static loads or force (CL 3).

The Board also found that Bayley Construction knew of the hazard: "Bayley Construction knew or should have known that workers would have access to the hole in the roof inside the cage or wind wall and that a fall through that hole would result in serious bodily harm or death." AR 11 (FF 4).

The superior court affirmed the Board's order. Bayley

Construction appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed. *Bayley Constr. v.*Dep't of Labor & Indus., __ Wn. App. __, 450 P.3d 647, 663 (2019).

IV. ARGUMENT

The Legislature designed the Washington Industrial Safety & Health Act (WISHA) to protect workers from workplace hazards like falls. This case presents a routine application of WISHA principles to the facts, and review is not warranted.

Bayley Construction raises three primary arguments: that the Board misinterpreted the regulation, imposed strict liability, and allowed the Department to change its interpretation of the rule, allegedly violating due process and "fair notice." Pet. 13-18. Bayley Construction offers no

argument about how any of its arguments meet the standards in RAP 13.4, and none exists. Pet. 1-18.

A. Review Is Not Warranted to Reconsider the Interpretation of Maximum Potential Load as the Court of Appeals Correctly Applied Dictionary Definitions to Undefined Terms

The plain language of WAC 296-155-24615 provides for potential load, not intended load, and an employer must consider both dynamic and static loads to best protect workers. Bayley Construction argues that the regulation means "intended" load not "potential" load and that an employer need not consider dynamic load to protect falling workers. *See* Pet. 13-16. It argues that the employer need only consider static load from an employee doing things like walking on the cover. *See* Pet. 13-16. The rule provides the contrary:

- (3) Cover specifications.
- (a) Floor opening or floor hole covers must be of any material that meets the following strength requirements:

. . . .

(ii) All floor opening and floor hole covers must be capable of supporting the *maximum potential load* but never less than two hundred pounds (with a safety factor of 4).

WAC 296-155-24615 (emphasis added).

The rule requires covers to support the "maximum potential load."

The rule does not say maximum "intended" load, contrary to Bayley

Construction's interpretation. Pet. 13, 18.

Because the rule does not define "potential" or "load," the Court of Appeals correctly applied the ordinary dictionary definitions. *Bayley Constr.*, 450 P.3d at 660. "Potential" means "existing in possibility: capable of development into actuality." *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/potential. "Load" means in this context: "the forces to which a structure is subjected due to superposed weight or to wind pressure on the vertical surfaces; broadly: the forces to which a given object is subjected." *Merriam-Webster Dictionary*, https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/load. When read together, the two words mean the forces, existing in possibility and capable of development into actuality, to which a given object would be subjected.

The Department's intent to establish broader safety protections than the "maximum intended load" is shown by the fact the Department used "maximum intended load" in another part of the same regulation for a different standard. WAC 296-155-24615(3)(a)(i). A difference in terms is presumed to have a difference in meaning.

WAC 296-155-24615(3)(a)(ii) is a rule designed to protect against the hazards of a cover that does not stop someone from falling down a hole. Bayley Construction argues that because the floor-covering rule is in the "fall restraint" section of the rules, and not in the "fall arrest" section,

it did not have to protect from a dynamic load such as a fall from the 32-inch wall. Pet. 15. As the Court of Appeals observed, the definition of "fall restraint system" is not limited to a static load. Under WAC 296-155-24605, "fall restraint" means '[r]estrained from falling." 450 P.3d at 661.⁴

B. Review Is Not Warranted to Reconsider Factual Issues Reviewed Under the Substantial Evidence Standard

Substantial evidence supports that the Department proved every element of the WISHA citation. Bayley Construction argues that the Board imposed strict liability on it. Pet. 1-2, 11. Using a dictionary definition of statutory terms does not impose strict liability. And because the Department must prove every element of a WISHA citation (including whether the employer knew or should have known of the violation), there is no strict liability. *See Potelco v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 191 Wn. App. 9, 34, 361 P.3d 767 (2015) (no strict liability because the Department must prove every element to a WISHA citation).

Bayley Construction argues that it was not foreseeable that a worker would jump on the cover. Pet. 11, 14. This argument goes to the substantial evidence question of constructive knowledge. An employer must act with reasonable diligence to discover a WISHA violation or

10

⁴ The hole-cover rule is not ambiguous. But even if Bayley's arguments point to an ambiguity, well-established principles show that this Court should adopt the interpretation that best protects workers. RCW 49.17.010.

it will be held to have constructive knowledge of the violation. RCW 49.17.180(6); Erection Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 160 Wn. App. 194, 207, 248 P.3d 1085 (2011). Substantial evidence supports the Board's finding of knowledge. A reasonable inspection of the worksite would show that it was likely that workers would be within the 32" high wall area near the hole. Bayley Construction argues that it told its workers not to go inside the wall. Pet 4. But the Board could disregard this testimony for two reasons. First, testimony established that the workers worked inside the wall. AR Troxell 29-30. Second, both inspectors testified that they found it difficult to walk around the wall because of the many obstacles, showing that it would have been likely for workers to go over the wall enclosure instead of walking around it.⁵ AR Sarmiento 86-87; AR Troxell 13. Substantial evidence thus supports that it was foreseeable that a worker would jump down from the wall, rather than walk around it.

C. Review Is Not Warranted to Consider the Effect of a New Interpretation of a Rule Because There Is No New Interpretation

Bayley Construction's brief assumes that the Department's interpretation of the floor-covering rule is a "new" interpretation and that

⁵ In any event, this would go to the affirmative unpreventable employee misconduct defense, RCW 49.17.120, not a defense against knowledge.

the Department has once interpreted the phrase "maximum potential load" to mean "maximum intended load." Pet. 2, 8, 13, 16. But as the Court of Appeals concluded, the Department never had an "old" interpretation of the statute. *Bayley Constr.*, 450 P.3d at 662, n.10. The Department has never had an official interpretation as shown by its absence in its policies.⁶

The evidence shows there was no prior interpretation. To prepare for his testimony, Department construction industry expert Conley researched whether there had ever been a previous incident in Washington in which a floor covering failed and a worker fell through the covering. AR Conley 16-17. He could find no records of such an accident, and no one at the Department knew of a prior failure. AR Conley 16-17. Conley's research concluded that the Department has issued no WISHA citations involving a failure of a floor covering before and that the Department had issued no previous interpretations of this rule or the phrase "maximum potential load." AR Conley 16-17.

Bayley Construction relied on Steven Heist, a former Department construction industry expert, who testified how he calculated the load when he worked for the Department. AR Heist 20. He considered only static load. AR Heist 20. But a former Department employee's personal

⁶ See Washington State Department of Labor & Industries Division of Occupational Health & Safety, Enforcement Policies, https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety-rules/enforcement-policies/.

practice does not provide the Department's policy positions. *Cf. Sleasman* v. *City of Lacey*, 159 Wn.2d 639, 646-47, 151 P.3d 990 (2007) (finding anecdotal litigation experiences not evidence of an agency's policy). He also is not a Department representative and does not speak for the Department.

In any event, Heist agreed with Conley that the Department had not officially ruled on the matter:

Q While you were working at L&I, did you ever run into a situation where you were aware of any incidents where someone fell through a floor covering?

A I know that there were times where workers had fallen through a piece of material, but not—it wasn't a floor hole covering—floor hole opening. Not that I can remember of the investigations that I was brought into.

Q And while you were there, isn't it true that you never received any inquiries from employers as to what the phrase "maximum potential load" meant in the WAC, right?

A I can't say that that's either correct or incorrect.

Q But you don't have any memory of—

A I have no memory of that discussion.

Q Of anybody asking?

A No.

. . .

Q Are you aware of any previous inspections or citations issued by the Department involving someone who had fallen through a floor covering?

A Not a floor covering.

Q So this case is the first one that you're aware of, right?

A I would agree. From memory I would agree with that.

AR Heist 32-33; AR Heist 38-39.

Even if it were true that the Department once applied a different interpretation, which it did not, it would not change the result here for at least two reasons. First, Bayley Construction does not dispute that the Department has not provided a publicly available interpretation of its rule, so Bayley Construction could not have relied on it. Second, Bayley Construction argues that there is some right to "fair notice," but it cites no Washington case law for this proposition. And the plain wording of the WAC provided Bayley Construction notice of the regulatory requirements.

To obtain a reversal on its notice theory, Bayley Construction would have to prove that the Department was equitably estopped from arguing a new position. *See Silverstreak, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 159 Wn.2d 868, 888, 154 P.3d 891 (2007) (public agency estopped from enforcing changed policy after the fact). But Bayley Construction did not argue equitable estoppel, nor is there proof of the elements of equitable estoppel. Bayley Construction did not show that Christopher Babbitt, who installed the cover, relied on any statement from the Department—a necessary element to equitable estoppel. *Silverstreak*, 159 Wn.2d at 887-88. Without this showing, the Department may enforce its regulations even if there were a different application in a prior case (which there was

 $^{^7}$ See Enforcement Policies, https://www.lni.wa.gov/safety-health/safety-rules/enforcement-policies/.

not). See Longview Fibre Co. v. Dep't of Ecology, 89 Wn. App. 627, 636-37, 949 P.2d 851 (1998).

Finally, Bayley Construction postures this issue as including a "due process" issue but does not provide authority for this proposition.

Pet. 1, 16-18. This Court should disregard the argument.

V. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, this Court should deny review.